
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

SUMMARY ORDER

THIS SUMMARY ORDER WILL NOT BE PUBLISHED IN THE FEDERAL REPORTER
AND MAY NOT BE CITED AS PRECEDENTIAL AUTHORITY TO THIS OR ANY OTHER
COURT, BUT MAY BE CALLED TO THE ATTENTION OF THIS OR ANY OTHER
COURT IN A SUBSEQUENT STAGE OF THIS CASE, IN A RELATED CASE, OR IN
ANY CASE FOR PURPOSES OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL OR RES JUDICATA.

At a stated term of the United States Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit, held at the Thurgood Marshall United States
Courthouse, Foley Square, in the City of New York, on the 8th   
day of October, two thousand and four.

PRESENT:

Hon. John M. Walker, Jr.,
Chief Judge,

Hon. Pierre N. Leval,
Hon. Robert A. Katzmann,

Circuit Judges,

---------------------------------------------X

SELIM ABBAD; JAMES ADAMS; DENNIS AUGHAVIN;
KENNETH H. BASS; FRANCIS J. BASS; JAMES
E. BEENE; JOHN C. BELTON; ANTOLIN BLANCO; 
TRACY BOYKO; NICHOLAS BRUMMITT; BENT BUDDE;
BUSTELBERG EFFECTENKANTOOR B.V.; SARAH M.
CASTOR; SANDRA CESTA; NANCY CHEW-WONG;
BILLY SHAWN COBB; ANDREW COFFEE; ARSALAN
DARMEL; KAMRAN DARMAL; PETER JOHN DAVIES;
STEVEN J. DEDINA; BAUER DERMAL; DENNIS F.
DORRIS; KIM M. DORRIS; BONNIE EDWARDS; THOMAS
EDWARDS; MICHAEL FESS; SHARON D. FINLEY;
HARRY S. FRANK; RICHARD GOLDSMITH; DANNY
GOSSETT; CONOR DAVID GREENE; PAUL M. GROVES;
KEITH A. GUILBEAU; MICHAEL HAGENS; FARHAD
HAGHIGHAT; LAWRENCE D. HART; TRACEY E. HART;
SUZANNE R. HOOVER; ROBERT HORVATH; MENG HUANG;
ROBERT W. HUCKABY; MICHAEL J. HUTH; PAT C.
ISABELLA; JAMES JONES; PATRICK M. KAIN; CHRISTINE
M. KAIN; DAVID E. KAPLAN; MICHAEL KELLY;
JACOBUS A. KEMP; CAROLINE M. KUBIAK; JOHN S.
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KUBIAK, JR.; LOTHAR LEHNARDT; TOMMY LESTER; JAN
LOEBER; ALBERT C. LORRAINE; TERRY MACKENZIE; SEAN
S. MACPHERSON; KEVIN J. MCKEON; JEFFREY MANCINI;
RAMESH MANI; PIETER MIEJER; GREG MICHALAK; PETER
MILLER; LOUISE MINERVINO; JOSEPH MOGRE; ROBERT PIERRE
NIEBORG; ERIC M. OLSON; PER B. PETERSEN; DICKON
POWNALL-GRAY; ELLA POWNALL-GRAY; SASKIA POWNALL-GRAY;
GWILLIAM ROGER PRICE; QUANTES.COM SC; HALEH SAFAVI;
KYAN SAFAVI; ROKNEDIN SAFAVI; YAUSS SAFAVI; HENRI L.
SCHOUTEN; MARK E. SCOTT; JOHN SCRIVENER; TOP SEN;
STANFORD L. SHOAF; CLAUS BERG STEFFENSEN; GARRY J. 
SZYNDLAR; FRED C. THOMPSON; CHIN-CHE TIN; CHIN-KHAUN
TEH TIN; ZAHRA TOOSI; ERNESTO VALDESOLO; SCOTT J.
VAN STEYN; ADI VENKITARAMAN; JEAN-PAUL VOUILLER;
DARDEN LEE WALL, JR.; LOIS WALL; WAPPING HOLDINGS
LTD.; ARNOLD WEITZMAN; EDWARD S. WEST; SAMUEL WONG 
and JOHN W.H. WOODS,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,
   No. 03-9169

- v. -

ROBERT J. AMMAN; DUNCAN LEWIS; GRIER C. RACLIN and 
ROBERT A. SCHRIESHEIM,

Defendants-Appellees.

---------------------------------------------X

APPEARING FOR APPELLANTS DANIEL J. BROOKS (Schnader
Harrison Segal & Lewis LLP,
Timothy K. Lewis, Nancy
Winkelman, on the brief), New
York, NY

APPEARING FOR APPELLEES DENNIS P. ORR (Mayer, Brown, Rowe
& Maw LLP, Joseph De Simone,
Matthew D. Ingber, on the brief)
New York, NY

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York (Loretta A. Preska, Judge).

UPON DUE CONSIDERATION, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND 
DECREED that the judgment of said district court be and it hereby
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is AFFIRMED.

This is an appeal from a judgment of the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York (Loretta A.
Preska, Judge) dismissing plaintiffs-appellants’ securities fraud
complaint for failure to adequately plead scienter, as required
by Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) and the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”).  Plaintiffs are investors who
bought stock in a now-bankrupt telecom company called Global
TeleSystems, Inc. (“GTS”) before it folded.  They brought this
suit against four former GTS executives, alleging violations of
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) & 78t(a), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  Reviewing the district
court’s decision de novo, and accepting as true all facts alleged
in the complaint, see Kalnit v. Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 137-38 (2d
Cir. 2001), we affirm.  Most of the pertinent facts are recited
in the decision of the district court.  See Abbad v. Amman, 285
F. Supp. 2d 411 (S.D.N.Y. 2003).  Familiarity with the complaint
and proceedings below is assumed. 

This Circuit has long held that, in order to withstand
dismissal on the pleadings, a complaint alleging securities fraud
under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 must plead “‘facts that give
rise to a strong inference of fraudulent intent.’”  Chill v. Gen.
Elec. Co., 101 F.3d 263, 267 (2d Cir. 1996) (quoting Acito v.
IMCERA Group, Inc., 47 F.3d 47, 52 (2d Cir. 1995)).  That
requirement was reinforced in 1995 by the PSLRA, which mandates
that a complaint in a case like this “state with particularity
facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted
with the required state of mind.”  15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2).  A
plaintiff can satisfy this scienter requirement by either (1)
alleging “facts to show that defendants had both motive and
opportunity to commit fraud,” Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164, 176
(2d Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks omitted), or (2)
alleging “facts that constitute strong circumstantial evidence of
conscious misbehavior or recklessness,” id.  The district court
properly concluded that plaintiffs in this case did neither.

As to motive, the only theory plaintiffs offer is that
defendants’ executive employment contracts, which (in one
incarnation, at least) tied three of the defendants’ bonuses to a
successful sale of GTS’s assets, gave defendants an incentive to
dismantle the company and sell off its assets, which in turn
caused the price of GTS stock to collapse.  The theory fails
because the agreements in question guaranteed the same bonus in
the event of either a successful restructuring or a sale of GTS’s
assets.  Therefore, while the contracts did not punish defendants
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for selling GTS’s assets instead of restructuring, they gave
defendants no more incentive to sell than to restructure.  

As to circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or
recklessness, the allegations in the complaint are equally
insufficient.  Plaintiffs correctly point out that, in some
circumstances, allegations that defendants knew “facts or [had]
access to information contradicting their public statements” may
suffice to show recklessness.  Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 308
(2d Cir. 2000).  But, although the complaint here alleges that
defendants made misrepresentations, it fails to allege facts
clearly indicating that the representations in question were
false when made –- let alone that the defendants knew, or had
reason to know, of their falsity.  Accordingly, the statements
identified cannot support a strong inference of scienter.

For the reasons set forth above, the judgment of the
district court is hereby AFFIRMED.

FOR THE COURT:
Roseann B. MacKechnie, Clerk

By:                           
Lucille Carr, Deputy Clerk
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